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Friday, October 14, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking approval for changes to the rates that Toronto Hydro charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1st, 2011.

This is Board File No. EB-2010-0412.  On July 7th, 2011, the Board issued a partial decision and order in this proceeding.  Among other things, the partial decision found that while all findings in the partial decision are final and would result in a final rate order for 2011 rates, the Board would require supplementary evidence to be filed on suite metering issues, as outlined in the partial decision.

The partial decision stated the Board would issue a procedural order under the current docket number containing filing instructions to Toronto Hydro and outlining subsequent procedural steps to facilitate further discovery and examination.

The Board has since issued Procedural Orders Nos. 10 and 11, which dealt with, among other things, the schedule for filing of supplementary evidence, the interrogatory response filing schedule and the facilitation of the filing and discovery of intervenor evidence.

On October 7th, 2011, the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group filed a notice of motion requesting, one, a declaration by the Board that the supplementary evidence was inadequate contrary to and/or inconsistent with the partial decision and subsequent procedural orders for the reasons set out in the motion and for such reasons as are given at the hearing of the motion; two, a declaration that the rate design of residential rates is not an issue in this proceeding and an order dismissing Toronto Hydro's application for approval to change the residential rate design in respect of its suite-metered residential customers, including rental buildings and the proposed meter-only rate for converting buildings; three, an order requiring Toronto Hydro to comply with the partial decision, Procedural Orders Nos. 10 and 11, and applicable sections of the filing requirements for transmission and distribution applications without limiting the generality thereof, by filing materials specified in the motion; and, four, an order revising the time table set out in Procedural Order No. 11 as outlined in the motion.

The Smart Sub-Metering Working Group requested an oral hearing of the motion and further requested its costs of the motion, as well as further and other relief as counsel may advise and the Board deems just.

On October 12th, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 12 stating that it would hear the motion orally and establishing today's date for that purpose.

I will now take appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Dennis O'Leary for the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel members.  Mark Rodger, counsel for Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd.

MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and I'm accompanied by Martin Davies, the case manager.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Sebalj.  Before we proceed hearing the motion, are there any other preliminary matters that anyone would care to raise at this time?

Okay, hearing none, Mr. O'Leary.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, there is, relative to the motion, I guess, preliminary matter, and that is that we have produced a documents brief for use at the motion today, and perhaps I could ask that be marked as an exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. Sebalj.

MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark it as KM1.1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  That is the document brief dated October 14th.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF SSMWG.

MR. O'LEARY:  And there are some documents that my friend has produced, but I will leave it to his devices to introduce them in due course.
Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Let me start, Mr. Chair, by thanking you and the Panel for taking the time to hear us today.  I do not -- well, one thing I think I can confirm, that I am in full agreement with Mr. Rodger and Toronto Hydro, that this motion will not take all day, as suggested by the sign out front.  We will not be here until 5 o'clock, but I do appreciate on behalf of my clients the speed by which you have responded to our notice of motion and taken the time to deal with this matter today.

We do not want to create, and have never wanted to create, unnecessary work in this or any other proceeding, and it is not our desire to delay ultimately the hearing of this matter.  And the relief that we are seeking today is in fact completely consistent with that goal and what we interpret from your partial decision and procedural order, which we understand is your goal, which is to create some transparency and understanding of the costs that are associated with the Quadlogic Suite Metering service.

I should start with a little context.  As you know, and as has been stated in your partial decision, this is an issue -- the concern of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group members, of THESL's activities in the competitive market is not something that is new.  It has been raised in the past in a number of decisions, and it does provide some context for why we are here today and the concerns that we have.

It arises -- it has arisen in other rate cases.  The history of the concerns relate to also the compliance proceeding that was necessary in respect of THESL's unwillingness to provide offers to connect to various parties.

If we look at even just the nature of this proceeding and the order that was required of Toronto Hydro in terms of producing a cost allocation study, we are in our third iteration of it now.  You will recall the first one that was brought in, I think was referred to as the BDR initial study.  That one looked at the whole world of multi-unit high-rise smart-metered units and came to various conclusions.

In January of this year we brought a motion, the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, saying, in effect, that that wasn't what Toronto Hydro had been ordered to do.  Ultimately you decided that it would be helpful to you if they went out and completed a cost allocation study that looked at a Quadlogic metered group of smart-metered high-rises, which is the one that is the competitive market.

The Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is not competing with the usual smart meters that are the same one used in your houses that have been used in over 100,000 high-rises, as well.  We are competing with the Quadlogic class, and clearly that was understood in your partial decision.

But that -- and I will go to it more in detail, but Toronto Hydro then came forward with updated study by BDR, which is the independent expert energy firm that completed the cost allocation study, and it confirmed our suspicion, that there was, in fact, a cross-subsidy.  There was a low revenue-cost ratio, and, as a result of that, you ordered this phase of this proceeding, and, in a nutshell, asked Toronto Hydro to come forward with the goal of clearly identifying those costs which should be allocated to this suite metering service, their Quadlogic suite metering service.

Whether it's Quadlogic or some other technology, they are all, in lay terms, fancier and more expensive than the run-of-the-mill smart meters, and the technology may change.  And that obviously would be something that would be identified in subsequent years, but currently it's the Quadlogic suite meters that are in issue and the significant differences in price, which is, just on the face of Toronto Hydro's filing, you are looking at 150, or thereabouts, for the smart meters, and now it's 550 for the Quadlogic meters.


But we now have before you in this phase of the proceeding another cost study, which has really flipped the revenue-cost ratio on its head, and now there is over-recovery under the current cost allocation.  And obviously that's an issue in this proceeding, and we and presumably other parties, and, in particular the Board, to further your goal of actually determining:  What are the transparent costs of the service?  We will want to get to the bottom of that and find out, well, how could you go from a revenue-cost ratio of 95 percent to now about 105 percent, and all in the same proceeding and all within seven months of one another.

So today's motion is really, essentially, for three things.  And notices of motion tend to be broadly worded, but stated this way, one relates to the adequacy of the filing, and did THESL comply with your directives.  Secondly, our request for a technical conference, which we submit and believe that it could certainly be entertained in the current schedule, and indeed might facilitate the schedule.  And thirdly, our concern about the inconsistency, inappropriateness, the new issues that Toronto Hydro has raised in respect of the -- what they are proposing are really two new, in effect, two new rates, one which was never contemplated, which is this new meter-only rate, and the second is they are, in essence, saying that we are going to now change the fixed rate component for the Quadlogic customers.  And our position is that that was not contemplated by your decision either.

In effect, what we are saying is that you should declare that that is inconsistent with your order and never contemplated, and therefore it's not an issue in this proceeding.

Obviously we are not suggesting that this proceeding should not consider a new rate structure for the Quadlogic group, and indeed you have used the word in your -- in both your partial decision and your procedural orders that you were going to consider an appropriate tariff.  And that would certainly be something that would go forward and be entertained.  So there would be some change to this new rate class by the addition of the tariff.

But in short, what you have received is, number one, a new cost allocation study, which has taken away -- or which finds no cross-subsidy, and indeed there is an over-recovery.  Toronto Hydro has, contrary to the settlement agreement that it presented to you and contrary to your order accepting it, now suggested that there should be a change to the fixed monthly rate of the residential rate charge to Quadlogic residential class customers, and they are offering or proposing an entirely new rate.  And that's what is -- the only way I can describe it is the new unit landlord and developer rate class.

If I may ask you to turn to Exhibit KM1.1, which is the document brief that we have compiled.  The first area I would like to address is:  What was it that you ordered Toronto Hydro to do?  And if I could start with your partial decision.  I have only produced those sections that relate to suite metering.  Obviously, your decision went beyond that, but at tab 4 we have a copy of that portion of your decision in which you first, of course, state the nature of the issue, go on to identify the various issues and positions taken by the parties, and then of course the decision that you make, beginning on page 33.

But if you just go to the second page, you did go into the legacy of this a bit.  And I don't want to go on at any length, but you quoted at the beginning the Board's decision of April 9, 2010, right at the bottom, and right in the very last lines of that quotation, there is reference to the Board's opinion that the potential for cross-subsidization is ongoing and that the establishment of a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that are served by THESL through its suite metering provision.  So it's not a new issue.  It's been around.

It was as a result of that decision that Toronto Hydro was ordered in the next rate case to come forward with its cost allocation study.  Well, they then wrote in and asked for an extension on that, and that is referred to in your decision.  And you granted that extension in filing the study, and in December they filed the initial BDR study, and that's the one that -- where they looked at the entire universe of all multi-unit high-rises that have been, in effect, individually metered.

We then brought our motion on January 14th, and on page 6 of the partial decision, you identify that you found that it would be of benefit to you if Toronto Hydro was ordered to provide the additional information, and in particular to undertake a cost allocation study, which looked at the Quadlogic group.  And you will see in the very next paragraph there is the identification of about 9,200 Quadlogic customers that there were in 2009.

A little further down you will see that -- the second-last paragraph, February 18th THESL filed the study, and you will -- the very last paragraph going on to the next page, you identify the results of that.

And the very first sentence:

"The further study stated that a revenue/cost ratio of 95 to 100 was very different than for customers in the multi-unit buildings, which had a significantly higher revenue/cost ratio."

And then you, on the next page, identified that, which the study determined for the residential, for the balance of the residential rate group.

The point was, and the position that we took in the proceeding earlier on, was that by BDR's cost allocation study -- without drilling down to find out whether or not they really had allocated all the necessary costs, because we raised concern about certain costs not being included in there, but it was clear that there was a cross-subsidy based on the evidence, and your decision in that regard, then, reflects that, beginning at really page 34, but the Board findings start at page 33.

And I don't intend to, by any means, read all of it, but if I could summarize, at the top of page 34, you accept some various principles of ratemaking for the purposes of a non-competitive market situation, but then you identify in the second paragraph that you are talking about a different animal here, and the unique regulatory framework involving both the monopoly and the competitive services.

The very last sentence, you go on to state:

"The simple co-existence of the monopoly and competitive services necessitates a thorough and purposeful review."

So you are going to use language a little later about it's not business as usual, but that is certainly what that sentence seems to imply, which, you know, right at the outset suggests to me and other readers of your decision that to simply file a cost allocation study in the manner in which you have done in past years is not enough.

You go on to state at the last half of the next paragraph:

"The fact that multi-unit residential building developers have the option to obtain separate smart meters for individual units within a building from either the competitive submetering market or regulated monopoly introduces a complication that must be managed, not ignored or avoided.  It is not business as usual when it comes to setting rates in this environment."

You then go on, on page 35, to indicate that due to the existence of the competitive market, it is necessary to go further.  And in the second paragraph, you state:

"The Board has determined that the creation and maintenance of a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that at present are served by the Quadlogic systems is the most effective and transparent manner in which to address the aforementioned issues."

The very next paragraph, the first sentence:

"The transparency of the specific costs of the suite metering service is required on an ongoing basis."

That word keeps coming up, and it implies -- at least we submit -- that you were looking for detailed evidence about the costs associated with the suite metering service, and the ability therefore to make a ruling and ultimately approve a tariff that's reflective of the specific costs.

So again, I come back to my language.  It's not business as usual, and it may be required for Toronto Hydro to file something more than your typical rate case cost allocation study.

On to page 36, the last sentence of the first paragraph, you state:

"The need to expose the specific costs of the suite metering service will remain so long as there is a choice to be made."

And that speaks to the future, of course, but it also, again, reiterates what I just said, that you are looking for the specific cost of that service.

And, finally, the next paragraph, it simply identifies that the Board will issue a procedural order on the current docket number containing filing instructions.

So if I could then turn you to tab 5, which is -- we have attached a copy of each of the procedural orders, and I will only take you to the first.  At page 2, the filing instructions are, the third-last paragraph:
"The Board found that the subsequent phase of this proceeding involving the filing by Toronto Hydro of the supplementary evidence on suite metering would have the objective of establishing both the cost allocation protocols for the new class and the initial tariff that Toronto Hydro would charge for the service."

So, again, I come back to not business as usual.  You are going to be establishing protocols.  Your protocols may actually change in respect of the future determination of the appropriate annual tariff to be charged.

And, secondly, I interpret the word "tariff" to mean something that is specific to the charge and is transparent, so that a person making a decision between going with one of the members of the competitive smart sub-metering group will be able to say, Well, if I go with Toronto Hydro, there is this additional tariff if I use their Quadlogic suite metering system.

The last paragraph, this really relates to our first submission about the adequacy of the filing, and I don't think it could be clearer.  You state:
"The Board expects that Toronto Hydro, in preparing the suite metering supplementary evidence, will make use of the guidance contained in the Partial Decision.  In addition, the Board expects that Toronto Hydro will make use of the Board's cost allocation model and allocate to the new customer class all costs related to the Quadlogic meters.  Finally, the Board expects Toronto Hydro to propose a tariff for the new customer class and provide a detailed listing of all assumptions which it has made in undertaking its analysis, as well as any other information necessary to provide the Board with a complete understanding of the approach proposed by Toronto Hydro."

Again, it certainly appears to me that you are saying it's more than business as usual.  So what did Toronto Hydro file?  One of the things that we did specifically request was a live Excel spreadsheet model of their cost allocation, and they have, as of I guess late Wednesday, but certainly for the first time our experts -- we have retained Elenchus to assist us in the review of it, but the model has been made available.

So the motion has been successful at least to that extent, and we appreciate that they did it, but it's two weeks late.  The filing requirements that are on the Board's website, which Toronto Hydro undoubtedly knows -- and I won't take you to them, but they are at tab 6 here.

The applicable portion says that they are required to file a live Excel spreadsheet, and there are all kinds of good reasons why that is the case.  And it is difficult, and our experts have said it is a huge work project, to not have that for the purposes of putting together a fulsome set of interrogatories.

So the live model is now there, so we don't need to order that.  But what I can tell you is that in the brief look at it and my e-mail that I received from our experts is that with the live model, just making a very minor change to the weighting in one account results in a significant drop in the revenue-to-cost ratio.

Simply looking at the cost of collections and billings, a minor change I am told does reflect that.  We may bring that in forward both in questions at the hearing and to present an alternative scenario to you, but without the live model, we couldn't do that.  It means you really are shooting blanks during the IR process unless you have the live model.

So while we now have it, our request is that we be entitled to ask some supplementary interrogatories now that we have the benefit of the live Excel spreadsheet.

We did ask interrogatories and we did file interrogatories as required by your procedural order on Wednesday, but they aren't the extent that we would like to ask, which really leads me to the second point is our -- call it a proposal or a suggestion.  We believe that it might be a time-saving feature if you were to amend your timetable to include a technical conference, which would allow our experts to ask some detailed questions on appropriate accounts and go line by line through the cost allocation study as to what Toronto Hydro did, and the various weightings and the support and assumptions that they use.

The technical conference would be more efficient, because you would have a record of it.  It's more efficient because I always find it takes a lot more time to respond to -- well, indeed to prepare the initial questions, and then for the party opposite to answer them in writing always takes more time.

I would have thought it would be preferred by everyone to have a technical conference and use that to allow Toronto Hydro to actually answer the interrogatories that have been asked by the several parties.

Certainly we are open to both, but we do think that in this case a technical conference would be appropriate, because we are trying to ultimately drill down and ferret out those costs that are appropriate and should be considered for the purposes of the development of a tariff.

But coming back to where I initially started, Toronto Hydro filed -- and their evidence is at tab 2.  I have not included a copy of the Excel spreadsheets, and there are many, many pages of that.  And, frankly, you can't reproduce it in a size you can read, unless you produce it in a landscape format.

But if I could turn you to page 2, to give you an example of the difficulty that we have and why we are saying it is necessary for Toronto Hydro to file a more fulsome response, or at least proceed with a technical conference, if we look at the middle paragraph there, it starts by stating that, "In the updated BDR study".  So that's the one that they did following our motion last year, which found the revenue-to-cost ratio of 95 percent.

And in that study, the second line:
"The average monthly load for the Quadlogic group was estimated to be 361 kilowatt-hours on a normalized basis."

They then go on to state that -- this is the second -- fourth line down:
"As in the updated BDR study, some of the raw load data contained periods with zero use due to unoccupied units."

And then THESL goes on to say they use the same methodology, and now the average updated usage number has gone down to 334 kilowatt-hours per month:
"Due to the time constraints associated with this filing, THESL has not done a detailed investigation as to why the recent sample produces a lower average monthly load than the updated BDR study."

So there is, I would say, an admission they haven't done what you asked them to do, which is to actually state all the assumptions and the reasons for the proposal that they are supposed to put forward.

The fact that they would say that they did not have the time when they asked you, you may recall, for this cost allocation filing, as well, for additional time and you granted them an additional month, we say that that -- we submit that that just doesn't have any credibility.

But let's just think about this a little further as an example.  They have indicated that there are certain units with zero use.  Well, that raises a whole bunch of questions right off the bat.  What is zero use?  Are they saying there actually is no usage in these units, or is there a small amount?

As you can imagine, as units are built, they are built and shown to prospective purchasers and they will have working appliances that will all be plugged in, including the refrigerator and all the others that constantly draw.  They will turn the lights on to show the place.  So is zero use really zero or is it something else?  We don't know.

What is the manner in which they have applied or what assumption have they made in terms of the zero use?  Is it 5 percent of the units?  Is it 10 percent?  Have they similarly only used half of the number or the estimate of new units in a year?

You may note, as you go through this, that they have now increased the number of the subclass from a 9,000 in 2009 to now it's about 25,000 for 2012.  As you can imagine, as you go forward and the class becomes bigger, the percentage of new units to the total class becomes smaller and smaller in every year.

So if they have just taken the number in 2009 of, say, 10 percent and applied it in 2012, that may be inappropriate, but we don't know.  It's not here.

So there are questions that need to be asked and perhaps challenged.

But that's simply an example of where we say that it is appropriate for us to get to the bottom of this and ultimately arrive at a just and reasonable tariff.

At page 4 of THESL's prefiled evidence, you will see they do identify that the cost for the meters has gone up from 440 to 550.  They talk in the last line about costs related to inspections, network meters and the larger three-phase meters, which are more costly.  So I understand what they are saying is they are acknowledging that these are a lot more costly, but there is no breakdown.  We don't have the details of the assumptions, I presume.

And perhaps Mr. Rodger will say this, that if we took the spreadsheet and spent many, many hours, we would be able to ultimately do some math and some jigging and ultimately try and arrive at the assumptions and various weightings, but ultimately that's not the interpretation that we placed on your decision.

At the bottom paragraph -- and this is a significant one; at least it appears to be.  Before we had the live Excel spreadsheet, but it appears, at least from the prefiled evidence, they state that:

"With respect to meter reading costs, as was indicated in the updated BDR study, these costs are expected to be reduced as the reading of meters is moved in-house."

Well, there is nothing more than that.  We don't know when it is going to be moved in-house, if it is going to really be moved in-house.  Nor do we know the costs of them.  It's just an expectation of the costs going down.

Well, what assumptions have they used?  Are they hiring more people?  It is just not there.

So as a result, they say in that study, meter reading for Quadlogic customers was assigned a weighting factor of 7, compared to 1 for smart meter residential customers.  Based on the 2012 data, they have reduced the weighting factor now to 3, because they are taking it in-house, but we don't know why or what supports a reduction, basically, in half.

So these are the kind of things that we submit should have been in the filing, and will be areas that we would ask questions about at the technical conference.

In the very last sentence, the prefiled evidence says:

"In the BDR study, meter reads were assumed to happen every two months.  In the current study, reads have been assumed to occur monthly, as the suite meters are being read and billed at the same time."

I don't believe there was any identification of the fact that their costs only included meter reads every other month the last time.  Now they are at least acknowledging that it's being done monthly.  I am a little surprised that it wouldn't have been done monthly; I thought that was the whole purpose of having a smart meter, so that you would know on a timely basis your usage, so you are not getting an estimate.  There is a true read taking place.

But these are the kinds of things, the types of assumptions that were buried in the previous study, which we need to get to and understand.

So if I flip you, then, over the page 6, if I could, of THESL's evidence, you will see table 2, which is the revenue-to-cost ratios.  And you will see the column on the right is the BDR study, the 2009 base; that's the updated BDR study.  And then the 2012 base is the results of their current cost study.

So where before BDR found the revenue/cost ratio at 94.9, thus a cross-subsidy of about 5 percent, you see now it has flipped around to 104.7.  All of that, of course, is inconsistent with the direction for the residential class and the combined suite metering residential class.  Both of those show a slight decline.

It just raises a question, but what it does is it shows the importance, as has been indicated to me by our expert, of -- and the sensitivity of the cost allocation model to perhaps small changes and changes in weightings and assumptions, because we are dealing with a relatively small class.

So what they have gone on to do, if I could then flip you over to page 9 and what they are proposing here, is, we submit, not a tariff.  Leaving aside the whole question about whether a cost allocation study that has generated this new surplus, which we understand -- if we have interpreted their evidence correctly -- what they are saying is that for the purposes of designing the new rate, they have actually lowered the revenue requirement from the Quadlogic.  So they are making it less expensive, even though six months ago it was a more costly service.

What they have done is they are proposing at table 4 - and the right-hand column is remaining residential class, so I am presuming these are the fixed and variable numbers for the balance of the residential rate class, including those that are on smart meters in multi-unit buildings.  So the fixed number would be $20.19, and the variable would be 0.1654 per kilowatt-hour.

They are proposing to lower the fixed charge significantly in respect of the Quadlogic class, and raise the variable charge in respect of that class relative to residential class.

And we say that that is, for three reasons, inappropriate and inconsistent with your decision.

It's inconsistent with the decision and partial orders because it's not developing a tariff and making the costs of the suite metering service transparent.  It is the exact opposite; it's making them less transparent.

Secondly, the difference -- and in particular, between the fixed customer charge for the suite meter class they are proposing and the residential class, the remaining members of the residential class, the difference is really going to send out the wrong signal.  It's suggesting, and undoubtedly Toronto Hydro will try and market it that way, that it is cheaper to use the Quadlogic system than it is to put a smart meter on the wall of your apartment.

And thirdly, we say it's contrary to the settlement agreement at section 7.5.

And I will discuss each of these reasons in a little greater detail.

Starting first with the inconsistency submission.  The objective as the submetering working group understands it, as set out in the partial decision, which I took you to in the procedural orders, is to create and maintain a separate rate class for the Quadlogic customers.  You found that that would be the most effective and transparent manner to address the issue about those costs.  And just intuitively, looking at a change in the fixed charge, our submission is that that doesn't follow and is inconsistent with what you were proposing to do.

The fixed charge, as I indicated earlier, would become -- or our belief is would become a sales feature.  They would be able to say:  Oh, if you go with a Quadlogic system as opposed to a smart meter system, ultimately your unit owners will face a fixed customer charge that is $5 less than what it is if you put a smart meter on the wall.

It is simply not appropriate.  It is only going to further distort the competitive market.  It doesn't achieve or even purport to achieve that which, we submit, was your goal.

Our submission is that, frankly, it's apparent that that was their intent by this, and that is one of the reasons why we are here, in that this should not be a hearing into whether or not the fixed variable component should be altered, that the fixed component should be the same for all residential rate classes, and that what we are here to consider is whether it's appropriate, and how much, to add a tariff to that amount, given the additional costs of the Quadlogic suite metering service.

So those are the two market reasons, if I could put it, and reasons that we say are inconsistent with your decision.  As well, we say that you could also look to the settlement agreement, and we have included a portion of that at tab 3 of our materials.  I have only included the initial preamble portion, and if you go to page 15 under that, it deals with issue 7, cost allocation and rate design.  You will see that issue 7.2 and 7.3 were not settled, and they are the suite metering issues that went to hearing.  Issue 7.5 are the fixed variable splits for each customer class appropriate, and there is a complete settlement on that.  It reads:

"For the purpose of settlement, the issues in this proceeding..."

We are still in that proceeding, 0142:
"...THESL agrees to maintain the fixed monthly charge for each of Residential and GS<50 classes..."

So our submission that simply as a matter of practice, you have the ability to say to Toronto Hydro this is settled.  It is not on the issues list in this proceeding.

So for reasons that is inconsistent with what you ordered them to do and the settlement agreement, we say the proposed change to the fixed customer charge and variable component is something that we ask you to confirm is not a matter that needs to be addressed in this proceeding.

The final area is this meter-only rate, and I should take you, first of all, to their evidence at tab 2 at page 9.  They entitled it "Transitional Meter Only Rate For Converting Buildings".  It is not abundantly clear, if you read through this, exactly who is going to be caught and for how long, but it clearly is intended to apply to situations where a landlord or developer has a Toronto Hydro Quadlogic suite meter system installed, but either the unit has not yet been occupied, or, under the Energy Consumer Protection Act, they don't have the ability to use it to charge the tenant in there.

They are proposing to create a new sub-rate class, as I call it before, the landlord and developer initial rate class, where they would charge, if you go over to page 12, a meter-only rate of 487.  And there would be no volumetric rate, because the assumption is there is no usage that is consistent with this.

Our submissions in this are quite brief.  Number one, this new class was never contemplated in your partial decision or procedural order.  It is something that has been, frankly, dreamt up.  And, therefore, they weren't asked, and this second phase of this proceeding was never asked or intended to consider whether or not there should be this landlord and developer rate class.

There was no evidence led in the earlier part of the proceeding to say that there is even anyone who wants this or would benefit from it.  It is all something Toronto Hydro has theoretically said in their filing here is needed, but there certainly is no evidence in this proceeding that would justify placing it before you now.

It was never raised as an issue in the beginning of this proceeding.  It would have been the subject of much debate, I am sure, had it been raised at that time, but it wasn't on the issues list and is not specifically in your procedural orders nor your partial decision.

And, again, from a competitive market perspective, it's only going to cause confusion and distort the market, because they will be able to go out and say to the landlords and developers, If you go with us, you put in these meters, it five bucks, and that's it.  We don't know what the impact on the competitive market will be.  We don't know what the nature is of the dealings between the competitive market and landlords and developers in terms of unoccupied unit, but certainly the rigours of the competitive market will dictate how far they can go in terms of allowing these people to operate basically for free.

But here they are asking a meter-only rate based upon, on page 12, table 5, and there is very little material.  There is no cost allocation study that supports these numbers.  And, as you can imagine, there would be a whole world of questions that we would have about, Have they truly contemplated all the costs that are associated with this, such as policing?  When do you know when the landlord actually has someone in there using the unit?  Do you rely on the landlord?

How many times are you going to have to sue landlords and developers down the road because, oops, they forgot to tell you, and they continued to operate at this meter-only rate when somebody was actually in there using it and getting the benefit of the bulk rate?

Our submission is that it's neither contemplated by your decision, not proper in this case because it's not on the issues list, and would be completely contrary to your concerns about the impact of their conduct on the competitive market.  You should confirm that this proposal is not on the issues list and not a live issue before you in this proceeding.

So, in summary, we are looking for an opportunity -- really, there is two -- I guess two phases, have Toronto Hydro -- if they say they there are no further assumptions and there is nothing different, I guess we have to deal with that, but we want the opportunity to examine appropriate Toronto Hydro witnesses in a technical conference to get to the bottom of exactly what the assumptions are and the weightings they have used, and the bases for that.

And if you also grant the chance for some further interrogatories, in addition to that, we would support that, but we don't want to delay matters or make it more complicated.

And then in respect of the adjustment to the fixed residential charge and this new meter-only rate, we say -- our submission is it's not on the list.  And you are at liberty, and, indeed, we respectfully submit that you should indicate that it is not a subject that's live for this proceeding.  And subject to questions, those are our submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.

MS. HARE:  I have one question, Mr. O'Leary.  You took us to the settlement proposal, which was for 2011 rates, but the results of this proceeding will apply to 2012 rates.  So I don't understand how the settlement agreement actually has any bearing on whether or not the fixed-variable split can change or not on a going-forward basis.  Could you help me with that, please?

MR. O'LEARY:  And it's a fair question, and I appreciate what you have said.  We think the stronger arguments are that, one, it is going to have a negative impact on the market, and it is contrary to what you are anticipating, but we do believe that based upon just a strict reading of the rules of practice and procedure, you are not allowed in the proceeding to resile from a settlement agreement.

The settlement agreement and the issues list that was developed earlier says what it says, and while what we are doing in this phase will apply in a subsequent year, we say they are bound by both your partial decision and procedural orders, and by the earlier decisions.

Our view is that that does give you the ability to, for that reason alone, say you are not entitled to expand this proceeding beyond the initial issues list.

MS. TAYLOR:  I would just like to follow up on that.  Are you suggesting that had you known these two issues were in fact on the table for 2011 in terms of structure, that you might not have settled the way you did?  Is that what you implying?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it is all hypothetical now, looking back, but of course if Toronto Hydro had come forward and said, We are proposing to lower the fixed monthly charge for our Quadlogic group, yes, it would have been a matter that would have been contentious, and we would have said that was inappropriate.  And you probably wouldn't have had a settlement on that issue.

MS. TAYLOR:  And the same argument with respect to the fixed meter charge or meter-only charge?

MR. O'LEARY:  The new meter-only rate, absolutely.  But that's even further.  I think it's even clearer that there is absolutely no contemplation. You didn't order Toronto Hydro to come back with a new rate class for landlords and developers.  You ordered them to come back with appropriate evidence to support a new rate class for the Quadlogic customers.

So it's -- it was never on the issues list.  There is no evidence in this proceeding whatsoever that there is a need for such a rate class.  It was not raised in any of the oral portion of the hearing, and here they are bringing it forward in this.  We say that's inappropriate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, I am not sure where your sentiments lie, so I would ask you to suggest where you think you should come in the order here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we support the motion, but we are not planning to make submissions.  We are leaving it to our friends, and we are here in a defensive capacity.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Sebalj, Board Staff, do you have any suggestion of the order you take here?

MS. SEBALJ:  That you should take, or whether we have anything --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That you would --


MS. SEBALJ:  We have no substantive submissions.  Perhaps a few points of clarification at some point, but nothing substantive.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  How long would you be taking, Mr. Rodger?  We might want to take just a short break here.

MR. RODGER:  I suspect I will be 20 minutes to a half an hour.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are going to take a break, and then we will likely be able to hear your submissions and reply after the break, then.  We will resume at quarter to 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:27 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:45 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger?
Submissions by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

At the outset, I also have three materials that I would like to hand to the Board and have marked as exhibits.  These were circulated to all my friends yesterday afternoon.

The first is entitled "THESL compendium" and it has a series of tabs, A through G.  If I could have an exhibit for this, please?

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be KM1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  THESL COMPENDIUM.

MR. RODGER:  The second is an excerpt from the Board's April 9th, 2010 decision.  That's EB-2009-0139.

MS. SEBALJ:  And we will mark that KM1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.3:  EXCERPT FROM BOARD DECISION IN EB-2009-0139, APRIL 9, 2010.

MR. RODGER:  And finally, there is a one-page, which is taken from the Board's website; it's the 2012 cost allocation, dated Friday, September 30th, 2011, sheet E-5, reconciliation worksheet.

MS. SEBALJ:  And we will mark that KM1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.4:  RECONCILIATION WORKSHEET, E-5, FROM 2012 COST ALLOCATION, SEPTEMBER 30, 2011.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Chairman and members of the Panel, the motion brought by my friend challenges the adequacy and sufficiency of the supplementary suite metering evidence which Toronto Hydro filed on September 30th, 2011.

And in the notice of motion, the working group has made what, in our view, are a number of unsubstantiated allegations about the supplementary evidence.  It's either inadequate or inconsistent with the partial decision and order.

At the outset, we wanted to say that the onus in this motion, first of all, rests with the working group, to demonstrate clearly and with specifics how the supplementary evidence is somehow inadequate or inconsistent with the partial decision and the procedural orders.

We have now heard my friend's oral submissions, an attempt to substantiate the allegations in the notice, and notwithstanding these submissions, our view is that the working group has not discharged the onus and the motion should be dismissed.

In fact, it's THESL's view that the motion is frivolous, because it ignores the Board's earlier decisions and established procedures for this hearing, and instead it's an attempt, in essence, to relitigate matters that the Board has already decided.

Now, before I respond to the specific grounds raised in the notice of motion, I do also want to recall briefly some history on this matter to how we got here today.  And I won't go through the specifics, but some of the details that my friends went through on the history glossed over some matters.

So if we start with the 2010 rate decision.  This is the one on April 9th, 2010, and this excerpt I have just handed out, Exhibit KM1.3, and again, this is page 25 to 30 of the decision where you dealt with the suite metering issues.

And it's important to remember that in this decision, the Board had before it various remedies and options, and you rejected a number of remedies that the parties had put forward, including my friend, about how you decided to move forward here.

And then on page 29 -- and just to summarize page 29, you decided that Toronto Hydro should undertake the cost allocation study related to the provision of suite metering services.

"The study shall include an analysis of the implications of creating and maintaining a separate rate class for those customers."

And specifically, and I am quoting from page 29, you said:

"The Board is of the opinion that the potential for cross-subsidization is ongoing and that there may be merit in the establishment of a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that are served directly by Toronto Hydro through its suite metering provision."

And then, as my friend also said, you directed that we file in the next cost of service application information in this regard.

So we completed a first cost allocation study, and it was filed in this proceeding, EB-2010-0142, and the key conclusion of this initial study was that suite metered customers are paying their full cost of service, and more, are not subsidized by other customers.

Then we get the motion that's brought by my friends to basically redo the study.  The Board denies the motion, but determines that a further study be done by Toronto Hydro on this alternate scenario that has been described of separating the Quadlogic suite meter customers from the remaining suite metering customers.  And we did that; we filed the further cost allocation study, and that study concluded that Quadlogic customers' revenue-to-cost ratio of 95 to 100 is well within the boundaries set by the Board for acceptable ratios.

So then we get to the partial decision on July 7th, 2011, and I want to take you to one part in particular, which can be found on page 35, so this is behind tab A of Exhibit KM1.2.

And this quote is important because it does -- leads directly to the nature of the evidence before the Board today, and I am starting at the top at page 35, the Board decided -- and I am quoting -- as follows:
 "The Board finds that due to the existence of a competitive market for the provision of unit sub-metering it is appropriate to ensure that procurement choices, as between licensed distributors (suite metering) and licensed unit sub-meter providers (unit sub-metering) are made on a comparable economic basis both within the competitive unit sub-metering marketplace and between this competitive marketplace and the monopoly service.  Within the competitive market place the conduct of the service providers will be driven by normal competitive forces and the best price will emerge.  The determination of the true cost of the provision of suite metering as part of the monopoly service for comparison purposes is more complicated but the Board considers it to be warranted."

So the history of this matter, Mr. Chairman, after considerable review and after, now, two cost allocation studies, the Board then decided -- again on page 35 -- the creation and maintenance of a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that is at the present time served utilizing Quadlogic technology is the most effective and transparent manner in which to address these issues.

So now we turn to the specific relief and grounds raised by my friend in the notice of motion.  And in this regard, I have also filed -- I am not going to refer to it specifically, but I also filed on October 12th, 2011 a letter to the Board, which responded to the notice of motion.  I don't know whether this has to be made an exhibit number, as well, for the record, but I am happy to do so.

MS. SEBALJ:  I don't see any problem with doing that.  It's not an exhibit at this time.  So it will be KM1.5.  And just let me pull it up from my materials, so that I can make sure we are referencing the right...

So this is the October 12th, 2011 letter from Mark Rodger to the Board, and it's re: SSMWG notice of motion, filed October 7th, 2011.

MR. O'LEARY:  We actually included a copy of it in our document brief, because I thought Mr. Rodger might take us there.  So it's already in KM1.1, at tab 7.

MS. SEBALJ:  My apologies.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I am looking now at the notice of motion that Mr. O'Leary filed.  And as he indicated in the first paragraph, the working group is seeking a declaration that the additional evidence is inadequate or contrary or inconsistent with the Board's partial decision and order.

But again, they have really provided, in our view, absolutely no convincing reasons to support this assertion.  So in our view, their grounds remain unsubstantiated.

On a clear reading of the Board's Procedural Order Nos. 10 and 11, and of course the partial decision, the additional evidence clearly meets the Board's requirements.  And again, I don't think you have to turn it up; it's Procedural Order No. 10 at page 2, which I did include in my package at tab B.  But on page 2, the Board found that the subsequent phase of this proceeding involving the filing by Toronto Hydro of supplementary evidence on suite meters would have the objective of establishing both the cost allocation protocols for the new customer class and the initial tariff that Toronto Hydro would charge for the service, and this is exactly what Toronto Hydro has done in its September 30th evidence.  Procedural Order No. 10 also goes on to state which model Toronto Hydro should use, and it says:
"In addition, the Board expects that Toronto Hydro will make use of the Board's cost allocation model and allocate to the new customer class all costs related to the Quadlogic meters."


Again, this is exactly what Toronto Hydro has done.  It has used the Board's updated cost allocation model.  So we do not understand the submissions of my friends referring to that this is somehow not business as usual, and that was repeated a number of times, when the Board itself has directed us to use its own model.

Now, finally, in the procedural order, the Board is expecting Toronto Hydro to propose a new tariff, and including the assumptions around that tariff.  And, again, the new tariff is contained in table 4 of page 9 of the September 30th filing, and it's preceded by a detailed explanation of all the assumptions that Toronto Hydro has made in undertaking this analysis.  It's in the evidence that's before the Board that we filed on September 30th.

Now, for convenience, at tab D of my compendium - this is Exhibit KM 1.2 - what I have just done is listed where in the September 30th evidence we have spoken to the various assumptions.

So for my friend to say he doesn't understand it, he hasn't read the evidence.  And here is a summary of the assumptions that we have laid out.  So it has been clear in terms of what has been prefiled.

And, again, the Board has already provided about how this information will be tested.  That's why we have an interrogatory process.  If they want to test it and ask questions, they have an opportunity to do so.  And if they want to file their own evidence, they can do that, as well, and we will make submissions in due course.

Now, the second paragraph of the motion says the working group seeks a declaration that rate design of residential rates is not an issue in this proceeding.  And our respectful submission is this is just plain wrong.  How can Toronto Hydro meet the Board's direction to propose a new tariff for the new customer class without also addressing rate design issues, because rate design issues are necessary and incidental to creating such a tariff in the first place.  You can't have one thing without the other.

And, again, I refer you back to table 4 on page 9 of the September 30th filing.  This is where we set out the proposed tariff, and we did so in furtherance of the Board's direction.  In the preceding two pages of that filing, we explain the rate design issues that were addressed in coming up with that tariff.  As my friend indicated, we have used a revenue-to-cost ratio of unity for the new customer class.  I'm not sure there could be anything more transparent than that.

We have not, contrary to what my friend said this morning, otherwise changed the design of residential rates.  And, specifically, if you will just read from page 8 of our prefiled evidence, we state clearly:
"THESL has maintained the same proportion of revenue recovered from the fixed and variable charges for the new classes, the suite meter class, as well as the new remaining residential class, as applies to existing residential class."

So we haven't changed that.  What's happened here is we backed out the cross-subsidy that was being enjoyed by the Quadlogic meter class, so you have an adjustment on the balance of the residential rates.  As the Board is well aware, the residential class is one pie.  When you change one portion of the pie, it's going to influence the other.  That's all that's happened here.

Now, I do want to speak to the new meter-only rate for converting buildings.  We believe that this new meter-only rate is, again, a consequence of the process that we have gone through over the past couple of years now.  The new meter-only rate responds directly to the Board's concern in the partial decision that procurement choices as between THESL and the working group providers are made on a comparable economic basis, and that comes right from page 35 of the partial decision.

And I don't want to go into too much of the details here, because that's what the hearing is for, to deal with those issues.  But, in a nutshell, what the issue is - and, again, this is all laid out in the evidence of September 30th - is that when you have existing residential apartment buildings that are bulk metered, but they want to convert to suite metering, the property owners or the landlord has to get informed consent from all the tenants, and this sometimes doesn't always happen.

Some tenants won't consent.  So as a result, for a customer that doesn't consent to the suite meter, THESL bills the landlord under residential rates to recover the cost for the tenants that don't consent.  If they didn't do that, there would be a benefit bestowed on the landlord.

So the working group, they don't have these issues, because, because their rates aren't regulated, they can make various financial adjustments as they see fit to accommodate for this.  But we can't do that, being a regulated entity.

So this whole proposal is a way to avoid a cross-subsidy, and, again respond to what the Board say, that essentially we want to have a level playing field as much as we can.

So we think that this rate falls squarely within the partial decision, and, above all, will be helpful to the Board in determining these issues.  But, in any event, our submission is that today is not the day to decide this, which is what our friend wants.  He wants kind of essentially a form of summary judgment on all of this.  That's what the interrogatory process is for.  They have a chance to file evidence.  That's ultimately what the hearing is for.  It's not to be decided today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger, just obviously as you say we are not going to argue the merits of it, but just so I understand the circumstances, in a conversion of a rental to a multi-unit metered status and going through the transition of getting consent, did I understand that the units that have not provided consent are being charged to the building owner at the residential rate?

MR. RODGER:  I misspoke.  The unconverted units, they are billed at the bulk meter rate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RODGER:  Now, the next ground that my friend spoke to is that he was -- the complaint was that we didn't provide this live Excel spreadsheet.  A couple of things I want to say about that.  First of all, if you look at the one-page Exhibit KM1.4, the point here is that the Board has always provided two options to file the cost allocation model.

Option 1 is the so-called live model or known as the detailed model, but option 2 is the rolled-up model.  And, as clearly indicated on this document, the information of the Board says:
"If you have completed the cost allocation filing model and are prepared to submit your findings to the Ontario Energy Board, please note that you have two saving options."

The point here is that Toronto Hydro has always filed this way, the option 2 option, and there has never been a problem.  If my friend's complaint is that he needed the live spreadsheet, which when he asked me I said we would provide it, the point is that it took his consultants two weeks, in my friend's submission, from the time we filed the evidence to figure out they needed the live model.

And my point is all it would have taken was phone call the day after we filed the evidence to say, Can we have it?  And I would have given it to him.

So it doesn't require a motion.  If my friend or any other party needed additional information, as we do in other cases, we try and assist the intervenors when we can, but it's not, in my friend's view now, to say, Toronto Hydro has delayed us.  We can't ask interrogatories.

They could have asked for this information two weeks ago and we would have given it to them.

Now, in terms of us not providing the inputs, weightings and figure in the cost allocation model, again, we have provided considerable evidence outlining our assumptions, inputs and figures.  It's all in the Excel model we filed on September 30th.  There is a lot of information in there.

And again, the working group just hasn't -- has failed to identify any specific deficiencies in this regard.  And again, it's totally unclear to us, if my friend had questions, why he couldn't have asked them in the interrogatory process.  In paragraph C of their notice of motion, the complaint is about proposing the new tariff.  Well, we did provide a new tariff on table 4, page 9 of our evidence.  And again, a detailed explanation of the assumptions around this tariff is included in the September 30th evidence, and again, it's in tab D of our compendium today, which shows clearly what assumptions we address and when.

Now, in terms of the technical conference request, our view is that since the working group has failed to raise any compelling reasons to vary the Board's established process, that this should be denied.

The Board's process already allows for a comprehensive written discovery, followed by the provision of evidence from intervenors, and ultimately submissions.

My friend seems to forget that the reason that we have technical conferences is to clarify answers from the interrogatory process.  So that has to happen in any event, and in essence, to us, my friend is complaining that he hasn't got answers to questions that he hasn't even asked yet.

So our view is let's stick with the Board's process and the Board's timelines and let that run its course, and to do otherwise, in our view, would simply delay the process.

So in summary, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, the relief sought in the motion should be denied.  It is, in effect, requesting a kind of summary judgment on Toronto Hydro's evidence, without the case being heard or even before the interrogatories are answered.  And as I said, all these questions could be asked in interrogatories.

The onus is on the moving party, and they have not discharged it.  And in our submission, Mr. Chair, what's really behind this motion is the working group, they simply don't like the conclusions or the results from the cost allocation studies; it's not the results the working group wanted to hear.  And secondly, they don't like or agree with the Board decisions to establish a new rate class and to establish a new tariff.

So in our view, in the guise of this motion, the working group is attempting to prevent the information and analysis of what the Board has specifically directed us to bring forward from being presented and heard by the Board.

So in conclusion, we submit the motion is frivolous.  It does not assist the Board in helping to better understand the issues.  We think the motion should be dismissed, and we also think that the working group should be denied its costs in connection with this motion and it should be responsible for costs of any other parties that participated today.

And those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  The Panel has no questions.

Ms. Sebalj, is this an appropriate time for Board Staff?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  As I said, we don't have a submission or a position on the motion itself, but I just wanted to clarify -- and perhaps the Panel was planning to do this anyway -- in light of the fact that the live model has been filed, Board Staff just wanted to be clear, before the Panel leaves to deliberate, what -- how that changes the relief, if at all, that the smart submetering working group is requesting.

I note that in your submissions, you indicated that you would like Toronto Hydro to provide more fulsome response or at least proceed with a technical conference, and so given that those are two different requests in the relief you have noted in your motion, just to be very clear about what it is that the smart submetering working group is now requesting.

MR. O'LEARY:  I can respond to that.  And with the filing of the live Excel spreadsheet, the relief sought does require some amendment, but in effect, we are in your hands and your preferences.

Our suggestion and our preference would be to deal with the technical conference and deal with all the interrogatories there.  We think that would be the most efficient means of proceeding.

I think it would be appropriate if the procedural order was amended to require the various parties that wanted to attend the technical conference to give Toronto Hydro some advance notice of any additional questions.  That's only fair.  But there would be follow-up on those, as we have indicated.


And our understanding is that we are trying to ultimately determine what are the appropriate costs that should be allocated to the service; this is the best way to get to it, to do it in a technical conference, rather than have perhaps lengthy cross-examinations and expert witnesses appear at the hearing.

So our preference would be to have some sort of a change to the procedural order, which would allow the asking for additional questions, and then to have a technical conference.

But obviously, I am in your hands, Board.

MS. SEBALJ:  The only other question Board Staff had, and this is procedural also, is whether the smart submetering working group could give us an indication of when they might be able to tell us whether they are going to be filing evidence.  And this goes to, essentially, if the Panel is inclined to grant your relief for a technical conference, how the scheduling will work may depend on whether you are able to tell us in advance whether Elenchus and your client wishes to file evidence in this proceeding.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry.  I am just trying to dig out the date that...

I think it's Procedural Order 11?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, Procedural Order 11, so the date for filing evidence would be November 4th.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes. I have not raised that with Elenchus, but if a technical conference were held within the next 10 days, I would like to think we would not need much more time than that; perhaps a few days to the middle of the week following.  So we'd be looking at something in the neighbourhood of November 8th or 9th.

But that is something I could respond to more specifically, if required.  I just don't have a fixed answer, but we could apply a little bit of pressure on our witnesses.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

Mr. O'Leary, your reply?
Further Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Let me state at the outset that the smart submetering group is certainly not here to indicate to you that we would not accept the results of a reasonably performed and appropriately examined cost allocation study, and we are not here to challenge what ultimately is generated by that.

If at the end of the day, the revenue requirement is materially different as determined by the current costs and appropriately examined weights, that is what the facts are and that would be the evidence, and the submetering group would not complain if there is no cross-subsidy.

So that is, I think, an unfair statement, to indicate that we are here trying to some way relitigate past issues.  We're here to try and determine what are the true costs of this service, and if they are not fully recovered, then to develop an appropriate tariff.

In response to my friend's specific submissions, I disagree with him in motions of this nature that the onus is on us to prove that somehow we are prejudiced by their filing.  That's the old attempting to try and prove a negative, which is impossible.

If the filing is inadequate and we are unable to answer questions -- or to ask questions, I should say, because of the nature of the filing, then if it's not self-evident, it certainly is from the fact that if you look at filing requirements, they were required to file the Excel spreadsheet in a live format.  And notwithstanding what my friend has produced in terms of the options, that's not the option under the filing requirement.

So we have -- if there is such an onus, discharge that onus.  But my friend was suggesting we just make a call and send it over, and it has never been a problem in the past. Well, this was problem and it was raised in the last motion.  And we did make a call; we volunteered some time ago to participate with THESL in the development of a cost study, and to review it and possibly -- hopeful, wishful thinking -- present a number or a tariff to you in settlement, but that was turned down.  So just making a call historically hasn't worked.

My friend was trying to make light of my interpretation of your decision about how this is not a business-as-usual type of filing.  And I have trouble understanding the argument.  It's quite clear from your decision and procedural orders that you're looking for Toronto Hydro to directly allocate all the costs associated with the suite metering service, where appropriate.  And that may mean new protocols and changing the weights.  It may mean that, going forward, there is a different cost allocation protocol that applies to other rate classes.

And our submission is, and the advice I received from our experts is that we were handicapped by not having the spreadsheet and by not getting the complete list of assumptions.

And if I take you to my friend's filing at D, he has included a list of the topic assumptions.  This was in Exhibit KM1.2.  He has not attempted to say that there is anything more in the evidence, and I walked you through specifically THESL's evidence, Toronto Hydro's evidence, in this matter.

He has created some sort of a chart here to suggest that there is more in the filing than there is, but there is nothing many this list that identifies the very things I talked about, such as, What are your assumptions in terms of the unoccupied units, and what percentages have been applied?

That's not even identified here.  So there are, on the face of the evidence, gaps and, therefore, the filing, we submit, is inadequate.

In terms of my friend's submissions on the new meter-only rate, again, he references you to their evidence suggesting that there is some basis for it.  Again, I start from my submission earlier.  There was absolutely no evidence raised in respect of the need for some new landlord and developer meter-only rate raised in this proceeding, at all.


And the evidence they have in support of it is found, if you go to our document brief, at KM1.1, at page 10.  Specifically, the second last paragraph, they make no mention of having to either compete or have comparable rates to the sub-metering groups.

What they talk about are things that they believe might be prejudicial.  They talk about, in the conversion of rental buildings, the increased costs to the landlord.  And we are not quite sure what increased costs they are talking about.  As, Mr. Chair, you appropriately asked, the units are being charged on a bulk meter rate, but they are suggesting there is a prejudice, because the landlord may then reduce maintenance or capital expenditures or increase rents.

There is no evidence of that.  That's just a bald statement, and there is a Landlord and Tenant Act that deals with this.  But there is no suggestion that they need this new rate as suggested by my friend today.  That is just not in their evidence.

And, finally, in terms of the request for a technical conference, my friend really made no submissions that a technical conference would not be helpful, and, frankly, he couldn't say that, because, as we know, they are helpful.

Subject to any questions, that is my reply, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No questions from the Panel.  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It's 20 after 11.  The Panel conferred at our earlier break that we are likely in a position that we will be able to issue a decision here today.  And so I suggest that we take until 1 o'clock, an extended lunch break, and we will return at 1 o'clock and issue a decision on our findings on the motion at that time.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:19 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:09 p.m.
DECISION


MR. QUESNELLE:  As contemplated, the Panel has been able to arrive at a determination on the motion.

The Board notes that the nature of the motion and the relief sought by the smart submetering working group has evolved, given the filing of the live model by Toronto Hydro Electric Systems in the past few days.

In the Board's view, the filing of the live model has increased the transparency and opportunity for analysis of the cost allocation assumptions and the sensitivity of the changes in those assumptions.

The Board finds that this element of the evidence filed is consistent with the Board's direction in the Partial Decision and Order of -2010-0142 and the procedural orders filed thereafter.

In its motion, the smart submetering working group has also challenged THESL's introduction of a meter-only rate and changes to the fixed-rate components of the existing rate design.

THESL characterizes the need for these changes as being responsive to the Partial Decision, in that the Board contemplated the need to establish a comparable economic basis between the competitive submetering and the monopoly service.

The Board does not agree with this interpretation of the Partial Decision and Order, but rather agrees with the smart submetering working group that the meter-only rate was not a subject matter identified in the previous phase of this hearing, and was not contemplated by the Board in its finding in the Partial Decision and Order.

The transition situation referred to by THESL is a new issue, with new evidence, and the Board is of the view that it is not within the scope of this proceeding.

The Board will not be making findings on this issue and no further discovery is required.

As to the proposed changes to the fixed/variable split in the tariff, the Board believe this is essential to the current proceeding and not otherwise precluded by the settlement agreement.

The Board is of the view that it would be assisted by further examination of the evidence.  As such, the Board makes provision for a further round of interrogatories in addition to those already filed.

These interrogatories will be due on October 20th, with responses to all interrogatories due on November 4th, revising the previously established date for the IR responses of October 24th.

Given the highly technical nature of these issues, the Board considers that a technical conference will be a useful form to allow for clarity of the evidence.  This technical conference will be held on November the 9th.

A technical conference will better inform the intervenors as to their need to file evidence, which, if filed, will be due on November 18th.

Interrogatories on that evidence will be due on November 25th, with responses due on December the 2nd.

The Board intends to maintain the currently scheduled hearing date of Wednesday, December the 7th, continuing on the 8th and 9th if required.

Finally, with respect to costs, the Board has heard arguments with respect to whether the smart submetering working group should recover costs for this motion, or alternatively, should the smart submetering working group be responsible for all costs of this motion.

The Board does not agree that the issues raised in the motion are frivolous, and as such will not require the smart submeter working group to be responsible for the costs of other parties arising from this motion.

However, the Board also does not believe that the issues raised by the smart submetering working group in this motion give rise to any special circumstance or considerations which would warrant deviation from the practice direction on costs.  The Board therefore will not allow smart submetering working group to recover its costs.

That is the Board's findings on this motion.

Any questions of clarification, or any further matters to raise at this time?

Mr. O'Leary?  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  No, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger?

MR. RODGER:  No, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Board Staff, you are fine?  Okay.

And with that, we are adjourned.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:14 p.m.
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